IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHARON THOMPSON FLOWERS

APPELLANT

v.

No. 2010-CA-01957

ALLEN FLOWERS

APPELLEE

PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT SHARON THOMPSON FLOWERS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Forrest County, Miss. No. 08-1093-GN-W

OLIVER E. DIAZ, JR. Miss. Bar No. 416 East Amite Street Jackson, Miss. 39201 T: 601.944.1008

F: 866.236.7731

DAVID NEIL MCCARTY
Miss. Bar No.

DAVID NEIL MCCARTY LAW FIRM, PLLC
416 East Amite Street
Jackson, Miss. 39201
T: 601.874.0721

Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHARON THOMPSON FLOWERS

APPELLANT

v.

No. 2010-CA-01957

ALLEN FLOWERS

APPELLEE

Statement of the Issue Presented for Review

I. Did the trial court fail to correctly analyze the *Albright* factors and therefore err in granting physical custody of the children to the father instead of the mother?

Statement Regarding Oral Argument

Pursuant to MRAP 34(b), oral argument would assist the Court in resolving this case. The trial court improperly and repeatedly misapplied the *Albright* factors in favor of the father, confusing both the law of custody and the facts in evidence before the court. Notably, the trial court split two *Albright* factors into four separate considerations, violating ample precedent and prejudicing the custody arguments of the mother. Oral argument would assist in detailing how the trial court erred in the *Albright* analysis.

Statement of the Case

This case is about the custody of the two children of a couple now divorced. The mother sought primary physical custody of the children, as did the father. The trial court determined that the husband should have primary physical custody. In doing so, the trial court altered the legal standards for custody or ignored them completely.

Aggrieved, the mother appeals, seeking primary physical custody of her children.

Facts and Procedural History

Sharon and Allen Flowers were married in 2004. R. 1:59. They have two children, both boys, that are at the heart of this custody dispute. R. 1:59. Charlie is now 10 and Joseph is 6. R. 1:159.

Sharon and Allen sought a irreconcilable differences divorce, which was granted by the trial court by consent of the parties in 2009. R. 1:90. After the divorce, there was a trial to determine which parent would have physical custody of the two boys.

¹ Citations refer to the volume and page of the Record or Transcript, as in "R. at [volume one]:[page fifty-nine]. R.E. 14 refers to the Record Excerpts of the Appellant, at page fourteen.

The trial touched on many issues, but only the below facts are relevant to this appeal.

The Parenting Skills of Sharon and Allen

The trial court ruled that Sharon had "basically been a stay-at-home mom with the children." R.E. 14. Sharon testified at trial that she decorated the house, did the chores for the family, washed and ironed the clothes, did the shopping, and cooked and cleaned for the family. R.6:452-53. She did all the Christmas shopping, and was both "Santa Claus" and the tooth fairy for the boys. R. 6:453-54. Sharon was the one who took the boys to the doctor and the primary care provider for their health care. R. 6:457-58. She was the one who took care of the boys when they were infants and generally dealt with the children. R. 6:458-59.

In contrast, testimony showed that Allen, a lawyer, was often at work. R. 6:459. "There were many mornings he left between 5 and 6 [a.m.] and . . . would get home between 5 and 6," she explained. R. 6:460. She said that he would also work "at least one day a weekend all the time." R. 6:460. Sharon said that Allen "would come home, eat dinner," and then begin working at home again while she got dinner ready and prepared the boys for bed. R. 6:460-61. Sharon said that Allen "didn't do diapers," and "didn't wash [the boys'] clothes," except on "rare" occasions. R. 6:459. Speaking about Allen's relationship with his relatives, Sharon said "[h]e never wanted to go see his family," and that "[h]e did not care for his family." R. 6:443.

When the guardian ad litem testified, she noted that Sharon "was a stay-at-home mom and Allen worked long hours," and that she didn't even "think that that's contested." R. 7:584.

Sharon's mother Virginia Thompson also stated that Allen "would come in about dinner time" from his job, while "Sharon was always the one to help [the boys] and get their homework done and everything before he got home." R. 4:253. In her mind, "he left very early and most of the time he came home very late." R. 4:257.

Sharon was the one who provided the care for the children and took them to the doctors.

R. 4:254. Mrs. Thompson did not recall Allen going with the children to the doctor when they were little. R. 4:254. She also recalled that Sharon did Christmas for the children and "[b]ought all the presents." R. 4:25.

Sharon's longtime friend Shauntae Schott also concluded that Sharon was the primary caregiver for the children in the family, and Sharon's sister Jenny Barnett agreed wholeheartedly. R. 4:267, R. 4:288. Sharon worked as a nanny for Lainee Bufkin, taking care of her daughter. R. 4:292. Mrs. Bufkin felt Allen "always seemed more removed from what was going on in the household." R. 4:295. She thought Sharon was a good parent—enough to hire her as a nanny, since "[y]ou don't pick a nanny that isn't good for your kids and isn't going to love your child." R. 4:296.

Allen ultimately admitted that Sharon was the primary care giver for the children, but stated he thought that was mainly when the boys were "[i]n their early months." R. 5:365. He said that when Charlie was born he was working longer than 9 to 5 hours, and "didn't have a set schedule." R. 5:366. He conceded that he would "occasionally" leave before the sun came up and return after dark." R. 5:367. He also admitted that when the children were younger Sharon was the one who took them to the doctors and "probably" did more shopping for the boys at that point. R. 5:368.

After the separation, Allen admitted that he still worked even when the boys were sick, and that he wasn't "going to apologize for working." R. 6:412.

Allen's Use of Multiple Caregivers after the Separation

During the trial, Allen admitted that after he and Sharon separated he needed the help of five different people to take care of the boys. R. 5:370, 6:404. He stated that four women helped with the boys: Imogene Huffman, Jerry Duckworth, Sharon Hurley, and Elizabeth Ladnier. R.

5:370. Allen's Uncle Don Hegwood was retired and would also help with the children. R. 6:404-05. During the weeks Allen had the boys, at times he had to rely on the four different women to take the boys to school. R. 5:399. Sometimes he had to have other people pick the boys up from school, because he might be at work. R. 6:400-01.

Sharon thought that when the boys were with Allen "they have so many different care givers . . . I don't feel like they have a structure when they're not with me." R. 6:469.

At trial, the guardian ad litem recommended that Allen "not have any women involved with the children that would usurp the mother's role," and cautioned against "care takers that would step in the way of the mother." R. 7:547. The guardian ad litem did not like the rotating series of babysitters Allen used for the boys. She said that it "bothers—I guess it is a concern of mine because it does go to the boys—there's a stability issue as far as who is going to be picking them up, who is going to be dropping them off. And it would be better if [Allen] could have one permanent care giver and maybe a back up, if an emergency was to come up." R. 7:601. She expressed a "concern with the number of women in the picture and that [Allen] should have one care giver." R. 7:604.

Allen's expert was Dr. Stanley Smith, who admitted on the stand that he thought when Sharon had the boys "she is probably more 100 percent with the children, than is Mr. Flowers," who "makes arrangements I think, so he can work." R. 3:194. Dr. Smith admitted that Allen had hired multiple individuals to care for the children. R. 3:194.

The first of the five caregivers introduced at trial was one Jerry Duckworth, who testified that Allen had asked her "to become a female role model for this children." R. 2:11.

Specifically, "[a] Christian woman role model for his children." R. 2:11. She was one of the babysitters for the children Allen used after the separation. R. 2:53.

After the separation, Ms. Duckworth even went to the Flowers home for Christmas. R. 2:54. She testified she played Santa for the boys after the separation. R. 2:55. She went and purchased batteries for the boys' toys. R. 2:55. Allen had not bought any stocking stuffers for the children, and so he called Ms. Duckworth and told her to get some. R. 2:55. When she protested that all the stores were closed, he told her that truck stops were open, and she should go purchase the toys there. R. 2:55-56. Ms. Duckworth then drove from Laurel to Hattiesburg to purchase toys for the children, and drove them to the Flowers home. R. 2:56. Ms. Duckworth had been at the house at nearly midnight on Christmas Eve, and then 7:30 Christmas morning. R. 2:58.

Another babysitter Allen used was Imogene Huffman, who the boys called "Granny Imogene." R. 2:70. She kept the children for Allen, but there was no set routine. R. 2:77-78.

Yet another caregiver was Elizabeth Ladnier. R. 2:83. She was Charlie's second grade teacher. R. 2:84. While she portrayed herself as Charlie's "tutor," he was her only private client, and was the first child she had tutored privately. R. 3:102-03. Sharon thought she was simply a babysitter. R. 7:522. Ms. Ladnier testified that she played video games with Charlie, took him to a movie, and went to Mr. Gatti's together. R. 3:107. She did not style these activities as babysitting, but as a 'reward" for working with the gifted student on his reading. R. 3:107. Allen also testified that sometimes Ms. Ladnier would also cook dinner for him and the boys. R. 6:404.

Charlie's Strong Academic Record

Sharon was proud that her son Charlie (now 10) was in the gifted program at his school. R. 6:465. She testified that he did not have any academic issues. R. 6:463. He got all A's and one B at school. R. at 6:468. Sharon related that the school district saw no reason to test the

gifted student for academic problems. R. 7:521-22. As a result, she did not have him tutored. R. 521-22.

Sharon believed the tutoring Charlie was getting from his second grade teacher was simply "baby-sitting," with Charlie just going over his homework and Joseph playing on a computer. R. 6:469-70. Charlie had told Sharon that his teacher "was baby-sitting him," that they were going to play or going swimming in the creek. R. 7:522. She did not know that Allen was having the boy tutored over the summer. R. 7:522.

Allen admitted that some of the tutoring for Charlie was done "[i]n part" to accommodate his work schedule. R. 5:371.

The guardian ad litem also noted that Charlie was in the gifted program, and that "[h]e's made good grades every grade." R. 7:607. She also testified that he did very well in first and second grade without the benefit of the tutoring. R. 7:607.

In fact, all parties and their witnesses agreed that Charlie did very well in school, including babysitter Jerry Duckworth. R. 2:48.

Charlie's second grade teacher, Elizabeth Ladnier, was the main person who said Charlie needed tutoring. R. 2:83-84. Her testimony was riddled with inconsistencies. She believed that Charlie had a low reading ability, but admitted that he made all A's in first grade. R. 2:85, 87. Despite his high grades, she thought he needed "to be worked with on a consistent basis everyday." R. 2:91 (emphasis added).

Yet after saying he needed constant help, she said that she currently only worked with Charlie "either two or three times a week." R. 2:95. She then admitted that he *did not* need tutoring five days a week, but probably three to four days a week. R. 2:95-96. She later conceded that three days one week and two the next was probably adequate. R. 3:101-02.

Despite this alleged constant need for tutoring, Ms. Ladnier admitted that she did not think Charlie was learning disabled, and that the school had not tested him for learning disability because of his good grades. R. 2:97. She also said that his reading had "improved significantly." R. 2:98.

Notably, Ms. Ladnier did not tutor any other children besides Charlie, who was the only private tutoring client she had ever taught. R. 3:102-03. She admitted that she had never personally told Sharon that Charlie needed tutoring. R. 2:95. She also did not have knowledge that Sharon had ever done anything to harm Charlie's education. R. 3:107.

For his part, Allen admitted that he did not have Charlie tutored every day either. R. 5:330. Instead, he testified that sometimes "[h]e may have missed a few days, a few Fridays we may have goofed off if he was up to speed." R. 5:330. Allen testified that he thought Charlie was "really smart." R. 5:363. Like Sharon, Allen was proud that Charlie was in the gifted program at his school, because "[i]t is a class that is only available to the children that show an extraordinary ability to reason and think out of the box . . . It's for creative thinking children." R. 5:362-63.

Sharon's Post-Separation Liaison

Sharon admitted that after she had separated from Allen she had an extremely brief relationship with another man. R. 6:440. "It was a one time thing," she explained. R. 7:519. Sharon repeatedly testified that the boys had never been alone around the one-time paramour. R. 6:441, 7:505. She said they had only been around the person for a birthday party "where there were lots of other parents and lots of other children" and at a Christmas party. R. 7:505.

At trial, the guardian ad litem specifically noted there was no evidence the one-time event affected the children, stating on the record that "I have no knowledge that it's affected the

children." R. 7:599. Further, she said "I'm not saying that it adversely affected the children." R. 7:599.

The Trial Court's Custody Ruling

After the close of evidence, the trial court granted legal custody to both parents, but primary physical custody to Allen. Of the eleven factors considered in child support cases, the trial court determined that seven were neutral and did not favor either parent. R.E. 14-17. Of the remaining factors, one was in favor of Sharon having custody, two articulated factors supported Allen, and one "other" factor fell in Allen's favor. R.E. 14-17.

Summary of the Argument

For five reasons the trial court's grant of physical custody to Allen was fatally flawed by both legal and factual errors. As a result, it must be reversed.

First, there was legal error because the trial court improperly sanctioned Sharon for her one-time, post-separation dalliance with another man. Second, there were both legal and factual errors in the trial court's determination of the age, health, and sex of the children. Third, the trial court failed to determine which parent had the best parenting skills and capacity to provide for the children. Fourth, the trial court failed to properly weigh the school record of the boys according to Albright. Last, the trial court committed legal and factual error by splitting an *Albright* factor into two parts and giving the new factor unfounded weight.

For these five reasons the trial court must be reversed and a new *Albright* custody analysis performed.

Standard of Review

The Court "employ[s] a limited standard of review in domestic relations cases." *In re Dissolution of Marriage of Wood*, 35 So.3d 507, 512 (Miss. 2010). An appellate court "will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor

abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted).

However, because the trial court failed to apply the correct standard of law, this Court must review the pleadings and make a new determination using the de novo standard. The Supreme Court "will examine [a] case de novo . . . when it is clear that the chancery court's decision resulted from a misunderstanding of the controlling law or was based on a substantially erroneous view of the law." *In re Dissolution of Marriage of Leverock and Hamby*, 23 So.3d 424, 427-28 (Miss. 2009) (internal quotations omitted).

Argument

For the following five reasons, the custody order of the trial court must be reversed.

"[T]he polestar consideration in child custody cases is the best interest and welfare of the child." *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983). Of the eleven factors considered in a custody case, only five are at issue today. The "health, and sex of the child;" "which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care;" "moral fitness of parents;" "the home, school and community record of the child;" "and other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship." *Id*.

Of the eleven factors, the trial court determined that seven were neutral and did not favor either parent. R.E. 14-17. As to the remaining four factors, the trial court failed to properly apply the *Albright* test and in fact created a new factor without precedent, while the rulings were marked by a distinct lack of factual support.²

² Below is a summary of the trial court's rulings on the eleven *Albright* factors, which the court actually split into twelve parts:

^{1.} health, and sex of the child—Allen

^{2.} a determination of the parent that has had the continuity of care prior to the separation—Sharon

^{-3.} which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child careneither parent

^{4.} the employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment—neither parent

I. The Trial Court Improperly Sanctioned Sharon for A Post-Separation Liaison.

Because the trial court punished Sharon for a one-time liaison committed well after separation, the order granting physical custody to Allen must be reversed.

"Our supreme court has warned on many occasions that adultery is not to be used as a sanction against a guilty parent in awarding custody of children." *Woodham v. Woodham*, 17 So.3d 153, 159 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009); *see Bower v. Bower*, 758 So.2d 405, 412 (Miss. 2000) ("an adulterous relationship is not to be used as a sanction against a guilty parent in awarding custody of children").

Over twenty years ago, the Supreme Court cautioned that adultery was not a dispositive factor, because "the polestar consideration in all original custody determinations to be the best interest and welfare of the child." Carr v. Carr, 480 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Miss. 1985). While the "[a]dultery of a parent may be an unwholesome influence and an impairment to the child's best interest, but on the other hand, may have no effect." Id. (emphasis added). Ultimately, "moral fitness is but one factor to be considered" in the greater scheme of custody. Id.

In the case at hand, Sharon "cleared the air" immediately on questioning from her counsel that after her separation from Allen she had a one-time encounter with a longtime friend. She detailed that it happened after her separation from Allen. She further testified that it was a one-time event. There was simply no evidence presented at trial that the one-time encounter after the Flowers' separation had any effect on the children, or even if they had knowledge of it.

^{5.} physical and mental health and age of the parents—neither parent

^{6.} emotional ties of parent and child-neither parent

^{7.} moral fitness of parents-Allen

^{8.} the home, school and community record of the child--Allen

^{9.} the preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law—neither parent

^{10.} stability of home environment and employment-of each-parent—neither parent

^{11.} and other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship—Allen

Indeed, there was evidence presented at trial that the one-time incident absolutely did not impact the children in any way. At trial, the guardian ad litem specifically noted there was no evidence the one-time liaison affected the children, stating on the record that "I have no knowledge that it's affected the children." Further, she said "I'm not saying that it adversely affected the children."

Nonetheless, the trial court did not apply *Carr* and examine whether this single incident actually affected the children. Instead, it applied a simplistic, binary test—finding that because Sharon had committed adultery it weighed against her. The entirety of the trial court's moral fitness analysis is:

Although both parties expressed questions as to the other having affairs, the evidence presented at trial by the admission of Sharon having had an affair after the separation of the parties, provides more than speculation. Based on this, this factor favors the father.

R.E. 15.

As Carr and ample case law has detailed, "moral fitness" is not a mechanical, either/or test. Instead, the analysis must go further to determine if the adultery actually affected the children. As the Supreme Court has held, it may be devastating on a family, "but on the other hand, may have no effect." Carr, 480 So. 2d at 1123.

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