IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHARON THOMPSON FLOWERS,

v. NO. 2010-CA-01957

ALLEN FLOWERS, APPELLEE.

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Hon. Kate S. Eidt Miss. Bar No. 418 Yazoo Street Jackson, MS 39201

Attorney for Appellee, Allen Flowers

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

SHARON THOMPSON FLOWERS,

APPELLANT,

. v.

NO. 2010-CA-01957

ALLEN FLOWERS,

APPELLEE.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT:

After four days of testimony, the Chancery Court considered the matter, made detailed findings and determined that the best interests of the children would be served by vesting custody in Allen. As required under Albright, the Chancery Court "scored" the case with 4 for Allen, 1 for Sharon, and the balance neutral. The GAL ultimately scored the case as 5 for Allen and 1 for Sharon and recommended that custody be placed with Allen. Two other Court-appointed professionals shared the opinion that custody should be with Allen. Through contrived legal arguments Sharon really asks this Court to re-weigh the evidence and make new law. Because there is more than substantial evidence to support the Chancery Court's findings, this Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT:

I. The Standard Of Review Precludes Consideration Of Sharon's Arguments.

It is by now axiomatic that, in "child custody cases, the polestar consideration is the best interest of the child, and this must always be kept paramount." Lee v. Lee, 798 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Miss. 2001). Seeming to anticipate Sharon's argument, our Supreme Court has held that while "the Albright factors are extremely helpful in navigating what is usually a labyrinth of interests and emotions, they are certainly not the equivalent of a mathematical formula. Determining custody of a child is not an exact science." Id.

Our appellate courts are "bound by the chancellor's findings unless it can be said with a reasonable certainty that those findings were manifestly wrong and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." <u>Bower v. Bower</u>, 785 So.2d 405, 410 (Miss. 2000). This Court "does not reevaluate the evidence, retest the credibility of witnesses or otherwise act as a second fact-finder." <u>Id.</u> at 412.

In other words, "[i]f there is substantial evidence in the record to support the chancellor's findings of fact, no matter what contrary evidence there may also be, we will uphold the chancellor."

Id. Stated slightly different, our appellate courts "will affirm the child custody decree if the record shows any ground upon which the decision may be justified. . .. We will not arbitrarily substitute our judgment for that of the chancellor who is in the best position to evaluate all factors relating to the best interest of the child." Brumfield v. Brumfield, 49 So.3d 138, 142 (Miss.Ct.App. 2010). Finally, where "there is conflicting testimony, the chancellor, as the trier of fact, is the judge of the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony, as well as the interpretation of evidence where it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation." Id. at 145.

II. The 'Continuity Of Care' Award Does Not Suggest A Close Case.

Despite 21 months of litigation, a GAL, three mental health experts and over 600 pages of trial transcript, Sharon never garnered more than one <u>Albright</u> factor in her favor. Both the GAL and the Court awarded the "continuity of care prior to separation" factor to Sharon based upon her being a "stay at home mom."

Because Sharon's brief evinces a belief that this score provides a stable base to build upon, it must be noted that <u>post</u>-separation continuity of care must be given equal consideration in this <u>Albright</u> factor. <u>Copeland v. Copeland</u>, 904 So.2d 1066, 1076-77 (Miss. 2004), <u>quoted in Montgomery v. Montgomery</u>, 20 So.3d 39, 45 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009). Sharon and Allen shared joint

physical custody for the 21 months of this litigation, and thus could not be more equal post-separation. While Allen does not quarrel with the Chancery Court's award, Sharon's thin victory here does not indicate a close case that could have gone her way.

III. Sharon's Lack Of Moral Fitness Involves More Than Post-Separation Adultery.

Sharon's attack on the Chancery Court's "moral fitness" analysis misapplies the facts and applicable law, and is misleading in the effort to show the issue as dispositive. The 4-to-1 Albright score in Allen's favor shows that moral fitness was not the decisive factor.

Sharon seems to suggest that confessing her adultery on direct testimony removes any moral component to the underlying offense. Brief at 10. Sharon cites no legal authority for this notion and thus this Court need not consider it. See, e.g., Montgomery, 20 So.3d at 40.

If this Court does go further, Sharon simply made the strategic decision to admit the adultery rather than face further impeachment.² There are no <u>Albright</u> points to be gleaned from confessing adultery at trial–especially after having denied it for 21 months. <u>See</u> R. at 599.

Sharon next launches into a labored argument that her adultery cannot be used for any purpose because there is no finding of adverse impact on the children. Brief at 10-13. The cited caselaw does not stand for that conclusion, and Sharon cites no legal authority for that proposition.

More important, as the GAL made clear there was no adverse impact investigation because Sharon had denied the affair until that moment of trial. R. at 599. Sharon cites no authority for the notion that a failure to show adverse impact from an affair that has been lied about until the fourth

² The feigned nobility of Sharon's confession is exposed by the predicament Sharon found herself in from her pleadings and discovery responses to the adultery issue. At trial Sharon said "I think I did the 5th. I didn't answer it." R. At 521. Sharon's assertion here that the adultery occurred "well after the separation," Brief at 10, is also curious because Sharon testified that the adultery occurred in 2008, R. at 518, and the parties separated in late November 2008.

day of trial may be capitalized upon by the deceiver. This notwithstanding, Allen did testify about the adverse impact of Sharon's affair on the family. R. at 413. Moreover, an affair can interfere with a wife's "ability to effectively parent, regardless of whether the children knew of it." Montgomery, 20 So.3d at 43, citing Mabus v. Mabus, 890 So.2d 806, 817-18 (Miss. 2003).

Despite Sharon's protest to the contrary, caselaw makes clear that adultery is a component of the "moral fitness" analysis in <u>Albright</u>. <u>See, e.g., Montgomery</u>, 20 So.3d at 43, <u>quoting Mabus</u>, 890 So.2d at 817-18; <u>Copeland v. Copeland</u>, 904 So.2d 1066, 1076-77 (Miss. 2004). The Chancery Court used Sharon's adultery for no more than this.

Sharon's suggestion that adultery was the only evidence of her poor moral fitness also misstates the evidence. For example, it does not appear that the Chancery Court bought Sharon's assertion that the adultery was a random, one-time thing: "(Q (by Court): "Why, if you picked up Chris Scharbano in New Orleans at the airport, did he have a hotel room in New Orleans? A (by Sharon): Because we stayed down there. Q (by Court): Who is we? A (by Sharon): Chris and I." R. at 542.

Sharon's lack of candor with the Court had already been seen in several other areas, as had her willful refusal to abide Court orders and directives. See supra at 11-12. Sharon had been deceptive with the GAL and Court-appointed experts as well. See, e.g., R. at 599, supra at 5. Sharon did not deny marijuana use at the family home, or that she kept the marijuana pipe for future use. See supra at 6.

Sharon's quibbling about the Chancellor's brief analysis of the morality factor runs counter to additional legal authority. Sharon cannot "presume to know what facts the chancellor did or did not consider," Phillips v. Phillips, 45 So.3d 684, 696 (Miss.Ct.App. 2010), and there is no "requirement that the chancellor must acknowledge all of the facts in his analysis of the Albright

factors that were presented at trial." <u>Id</u>. The Chancery Court had ample evidence of Sharon's lack of moral fitness.

There is no evidence to support Sharon's harangue about being punished for her adultery. The Chancery Court's <u>Albright</u> score of 4 factors in favor of Allen, and 1 for Sharon, makes clear that adultery was not the pivotal point of this case. Sharon's argument thus devolves to a request that this Court change the law by ruling that any overt use of adultery to help decide any <u>Albright</u> factor equals impermissible punishment. There is no error in citing Sharon's adultery as the quantum of evidence that tipped the evidentiary scale on this one <u>Albright</u> factor, and there is substantial record evidence to support that finding and to support the award of custody to Allen.

IV. The 'Age, Health and Sex' Factor Is Decided Correctly.

Sharon's complaint that the Chancery Court "improperly separated out the consideration of "age" from the "health and sex" components of the "first" Albright factor is at best misleading. After acknowledging that courts have analyzed age separately from health and sex, Brief at 14-15, Sharon attacks the Chancery Court for doing just that. Sharon cites no legal authority for the notion that the "form" of the Chancery Court's analysis of the "first" Albright factor is legal error, and thus the issue need not be considered here. See Montgomery, 20 So.3d at 40 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009).

A brief review of the original Albright opinion reveals that 'age' was an issue distinct from 'health and sex' of the child. Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983)("[a]ge should carry no greater weight than the other factors to be considered, such as: health and sex of the child; a determination of the parent. ..."). Contrary to Sharon's argument, Brief at 14-15, "modern courts" have not sealed the "age, health and sex" components together hermetically so that any discussion of one separate from the other constitutes error. For the most recent contrary example, in White v. White, 2009-CA-01701-COA (Miss.Ct.App. June 28, 2011), the Court remarked that "chancellors

making custody decisions must consider the age of the child; the health and sex of the child; the continuity of care. . .." <u>Id</u>. at 3, Para. 10.³ Cases are plentiful where the same semantic pattern used by the Chancery Court is seen, but none of this quibbling changes the underlying analysis or goal. <u>See e.g., Forthner v. Forthner, 52 So.3d 1212, 1215 (Miss.Ct.App. 2010); Swiderski v. Swiderski, 18 So.3d 280, 285 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009); <u>CWL v. RA</u>, 919 So.2d 267, 272 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005); <u>Moak v. Moak</u>, 631 So.2d 196, 198 (Miss. 1994).</u>

What matters is that the Chancery Court clearly weighed each of the three components of what is now often called the "first" Albright factor. RE at 4. The Chancery Court correctly found that "age" was a neutral issue because both boys are in school. Id. Sharon's tender years argument seems to dismiss that finding, Brief at 13-14, and ignores that the children had been cared for equally for nearly two years of temporary joint physical custody. If anything, Sharon's caselaw stands for the proposition that the "age" component in this case is neutral. Brief at 13-14, citing Brumfield v. Brumfield, 49 So.3d 138, 144 (Miss.Ct.App. 2010).

There was no evidence that either child suffered from a health issue that only one party could manage, so this component also was "neutral." The GAL reached the same conclusion. See GAL's Report, Trial Exhibit 3 at 16-17, and GAL's Supplemental Report (dated July 27, 2010), Trial Exhibit 4 at 2. Resolution of this three-part Albright factor thus properly fell to the gender component, and there simply is not much to dwell on. Again, Sharon cannot "presume to know what facts the chancellor did or did not consider," Phillips, 45 So.3d at 696, and there is no "requirement that the chancellor must acknowledge all of the facts in his analysis of the Albright factors that were

The GAL's first report also analyzes the "age" component separate from the "health and sex" components of <u>Albright</u> factor one, Trial Exhibit 3 at 17-18. This occurs again in the GAL's Supplemental Report (of July 27, 2010), Trial Exhibit 4 at 2, and is consistent with the Court's analysis in the Final Judgment.

presented at trial." Id.

Showing a clear pattern, Sharon cites no legal authority for her next notion that brevity equals "legal error" on this analysis. Because Sharon's argument suggests that this Court must begin to count the number of words used by trial courts and reverse as a matter of law where brevity exists, Brief at 14-15, it is worth noting that the Chancery Court used substantially fewer words to award the "continuity of care" factor to Sharon. RE at 14. There is no error here, and no new trial would change the fact that neither child is of tender years, both children are healthy, and both are boys. This factor was properly awarded to Allen.

V. Nothing Supports Sharon's Claim Of Superior Parenting Skills.

Sharon's attack on the Chancery Court's finding that the "parenting skills" factor was neutral is but a slightly-varied replay of her argument against the "age, health and sex" factor: she claims the Chancellor was too brief. Brief at 15. Once again Sharon seeks to create an issue without any legal authority, and thus once again this Court is under no duty to consider the argument. See Montgomery, 20 So.3d at 40 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009).

This argument is also premised on an evidentiary weight dispute that the Chancery Court rejected twice. Sharon's argument appears blind to glaring record evidence that supports the finding. Perhaps most notable is that the parties had shared joint custody under the temporary order for almost two years, with each party coming into the house with the children every seven days. Not once did Sharon seek to modify that temporary order, out of concern for the children or otherwise. Not once did the GAL seek to modify that temporary order out of concern for Allen's parenting, but the GAL did seek to modify the order to remove the children from Sharon's care. R. at 414. Allen filed motions to remove the children from Sharon's care twice.

Prior to the separation, Sharon left the children with Allen four times in 2008 alone for

In addition, the record makes clear that Sharon had help with the children on a weekly—if not daily—basis before <u>and</u> after the separation. R. 12-13, 23, 71, 246, 251, 293, 489. If counting heads somehow matters, prior to the separation Sharon used three of the five people that Allen turned to after the separation. R. 12-13, 71. The other two providers Allen used were Charlie's tutor and Joseph's God-mother (and Allen's secretary) who helped transport children on a few occasions. R. at 370. Only Sharon denies the need for the tutor despite clear Court findings and directives, <u>see</u> R. at 101-02, and Allen explained that the tutor's expanded role in the summer was caused by Sharon's refusal to abide the Court's order R. at 370-71.

Allen testified that the primary purpose of the four care providers was to "give the boys unconditional female love, like they do not get unfortunately any more from their mother." R. at 408. Allen's inclusion of family and friends during the difficult custodial arrangement of the separation period also brought stability to the children. Allen believes that 'it takes a village,' and while Sharon argues that she is all these children need her actions tell a different tale. Sharon's attempt to create an issue misses on the law and the facts and smacks of sour grapes. Ample record evidence supports the Chancery Court's finding on this <u>Albright</u> factor.

VI. The 'Home, School and Community Record' Analysis Favors Allen.

Sharon is mis-characterizing the Chancery Court's finding on this factor. Brief at 17. While the Chancery Court did say "based solely on the fact that the children are school age and have been attending school in the homestead's district", Brief at 17, other issues are clearly at work. Indeed, since Sharon has asked this Court to reverse a Chancellor for brevity several times now, it is worth noting that the Chancery Court spilled as much ink on this factor as on the 11th Albright factor that Sharon decries. See infra at 21-23. Even a cursory glance at all of the issues cited by the Chancery Court reveals that substantial record evidence supports this finding in favor of Allen.

extended travel to pursue her Texas interests. R. at 513-515. When Sharon became unreliable to help with primary care Allen placed Joseph in full-time daycare. R. at 518. Sharon complained but did nothing about this obliteration of her "stay-at-home mom" facade. Id. Sharon's claims of travel to Texas for benevolent purposes did not fool Allen, but her repeated decision to place the "needs" of herself and others ahead of her children illustrates her true ability to provide primary child care.

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